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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

JOEL FONTANEZ, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

CONTINENTAL AIRLINES, INC., 

 

 Respondent. 

                                

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 10-9036 

   

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A formal hearing was conducted in this case on May 25, 

2011, in Jacksonville, Florida, before Lawrence P. Stevenson, a 

duly-designated Administrative Law Judge with the Division of 

Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES 

 

 For Petitioner:  Joel Fontanez, pro se 

                      6316 Townsend Road 

                      Jacksonville, Florida  32244 

 

 For Respondent:  Maurice J. Baumgarten, Esquire 

                      Anania Bandklayder Baumgarten & Torricella                                                                                                   

                      Miami Tower, Suite 4300 

                      100 Southeast Second Street 

                      Miami, Florida  33131 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Respondent, Continental Airlines, Inc. 

("Continental"), committed an unlawful employment practice 

contrary to section 760.10, Florida Statutes (2009),
1/
 by 
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discriminating against Petitioner based on his race or national 

origin in discharging Petitioner from his employment.   

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about March 3, 2010, Petitioner Joel Fontanez 

("Petitioner") filed with the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations ("FCHR") an Employment Complaint of Discrimination 

against Continental.  Petitioner alleged that he had been 

discriminated against pursuant to chapter 760, Florida Statutes, 

and Title VII of the Federal Civil Rights Act as follows: 

I worked for Respondent as a Flight 

Attendant.  On January 29, 2009, I was 

working on a flight from Florida to 

Cleveland, Ohio.  As I walked to the back of 

the plane, I began to feel ill and dizzy, 

due to my high blood pressure.  I sat down 

in an empty passenger chair for 10-15 

minutes, closing my eyes to allow my 

dizziness to go away.  My co-worker, Craig 

Cummings (white) was sitting in an empty 

passenger seat across the aisle from me 

crocheting.  An employee, who was not on 

duty, saw Mr. Cummings and me sitting in the 

seats, which is against company policy and 

reported the both of us.  On March 4, 2009, 

Respondent cited me for "sleeping on a 

passenger seat while on duty" which resulted 

in my termination; however, Mr. Cummings was 

not terminated.  I believe I was 

discriminated against because of my race 

(Black) and national origin (Hispanic). 

 

The FCHR investigated Petitioner's Complaint.  FCHR 

investigative specialist Dante Bonner issued an investigative 

memorandum on July 21, 2010.  The memorandum recited 

Petitioner's allegations, detailed the findings of Mr. Bonner's 
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investigation, and then concluded that there was not reasonable 

cause to believe that Petitioner was discriminated against 

because of his race or national origin. 

In a letter dated August 4, 2010, the FCHR issued its 

determination that there was no reasonable cause to believe that 

an unlawful employment practice occurred. 

On September 8, 2010, Petitioner timely filed a Petition 

for Relief with the FCHR.  On September 10, 2010, the FCHR 

referred the case to the Division of Administrative Hearings 

(“DOAH”).  The case was originally scheduled for hearing on 

November 17, 2010.  Two continuances were granted.  The hearing 

was ultimately held on May 25, 2011. 

At the hearing, Petitioner chose to submit the transcript 

of his May 18, 2011, deposition in lieu of live testimony.  

Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 through 3 were admitted into evidence.  

Respondent presented the testimony of Leah Yi Opinion, 

Petitioner's direct supervisor at Continental.  Respondent also 

presented highlighted excerpts from Petitioner's May 18, 2011, 

deposition.  Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 21 and 25 through 

30 were admitted into evidence. 

There was no court reporter present at the hearing, and no 

transcript of the hearing has been prepared.
2/
  The undersigned 

made a digital recording of the hearing that was used in 

preparing this Recommended Order.  The undersigned offered a 
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copy of the recording to the parties, but neither party filed a 

request for a copy. 

At the close of the hearing, the undersigned informed the 

parties that they would have ten days in which to submit 

proposed recommended orders.  On June 1, 2011, Respondent filed 

a Motion for Extension of Time, seeking an extension of the time 

for filing proposed recommended orders to June 14, 2011.  The 

motion was granted by order dated June 1, 2011.  Respondent 

filed a Proposed Recommended Order on June 10, 2011.  Petitioner 

did not file a proposed recommended order. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Continental is an employer as that term is defined in 

subsection 760.02(7).  Continental is a passenger service 

airline. 

 2.  Petitioner, a black Hispanic male, was employed as a 

flight attendant by Continental from November 10, 2005, until 

March 7, 2009, when Continental terminated his employment.  At 

the time of his termination, Petitioner was based at 

Continental's hub in Newark, New Jersey.  As a flight attendant, 

Petitioner was a union member of the International Association 

of Machinists ("IAM"). 

3.  At the time he was hired, Petitioner received a copy of 

Continental's "InFlight Policies & Procedures Manual" (the 
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"Manual"), which sets forth the rules of conduct for flight 

attendants. 

4.  On January 29, 2009, Petitioner was working the first 

class section of Continental Flight 1085 from Fort Myers, 

Florida to Cleveland Ohio (the "Flight"). 

5.  Petitioner testified that he takes medication for high 

blood pressure, and that the medication sometimes has the side 

effect of causing dizziness.  Petitioner testified that he felt 

fine before the Flight.  While on the Flight, Petitioner became 

dizzy.  In an effort to relieve his dizziness, Petitioner sat 

down in the last row of unoccupied passenger seats. 

6.  At all times relevant to this proceeding, Cheryl Downs 

was a management employee with ExpressJet ("XJT"), a regional 

partner of Continental.  Ms. Downs was also a former employee of 

Continental.  On February 6, 2009, Ms. Downs sent an email to a 

manager of Continental regarding things she witnessed as a 

passenger on the Flight.  The email stated, in relevant part: 

I am not sure what is allowable from flight 

attendants and what isn’t but I have never 

seen anything like this in my 15 years with 

Continental/XJT.  First of all they were 

never rude to anyone.  We were seated in 

coach, the flight probably had 40 empty 

seats.  I was still able to look up the crew 

members names in FOMS
3/
 for this flight, and 

I pulled the pictures to verify who was who 

so I could give you a few more details.  

Flight Attendant Joel Fontanez worked the 8 

first class seats for the service, and 

flight Attendant Craig Cummings and Tiffany 
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Broussard worked the back beverage service 

only.  When the beverage service was 

finished which [was] a relatively short time 

period since the flight was not full, F/A 

[C]ummings sat in the last row (I believe it 

was 25D) and was crocheting.  F/A Fontanez 

came back to the rear with a blanket and 

physically laid down across 25 ABC and 

covered with the blanket.  [H]e appeared to 

be sleeping.  At that point F/A Broussard 

disappeared, so I am assuming she went up to 

the first class cabin.  I never saw her 

again.  A second beverage service was not 

done and trash was not picked up until 

shortly before landing, when the initial 

approach indication was given, they rose up 

from the back and came out with the trash 

bags. 

 

I feel very bad complaining about fellow 

employees but really couldn't believe it was 

happening.  Several other passengers that 

were going back to the bathroom were making 

comments about the crew. . . . 

 

7.  Based on Ms. Downs' email, Continental began an 

investigation into the flight attendants' activities on the 

Flight. 

8.  On February 11, 2009, Petitioner met with Continental 

in-flight group supervisor Leah Yi Opinion, his direct 

supervisor, to discuss Ms. Downs' allegations regarding 

Petitioner's actions on the Flight.   

9.  Ms. Opinion provided Petitioner with a copy of 

Ms. Downs' email and asked whether he could explain why 

Ms. Downs would report that he appeared to be sleeping on the 

Flight.  Petitioner could not provide an explanation.  
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Ms. Opinion told Petitioner that he would be required to provide 

a written statement explaining his actions on the Flight. 

10.  On February 12, 2009, Petitioner submitted a letter to 

Ms. Opinion.  The letter addresses Ms. Downs' allegations 

regarding the number of times the flight attendants served 

beverages, which was not a major issue in Petitioner's ultimate 

discipline.  As to the allegations regarding Petitioner's 

sleeping during the Flight, Petitioner wrote: 

Shortly after the second beverage was 

completed I was walking towards the back of 

the main cabin to do my compliance check and 

proceed to pick up any services items.  I 

proceed at that time to take my jumpseat.  I 

[cannot] understand why Ms. Downs 

interpreted that as what she did.  I have 

never sat in a passenger seat and I 

understand Continental's policy when it 

comes to that.  I only sat down at my 

jumpseat to gain my composure because of my 

high blood pressure and at that time I felt 

that my high blood pressure was high. 

 

This has happened to me before where my high 

blood pressure goes up.  As a matter of fact 

I was on a trip a few months ago and I was 

forced to visit the clinic in Houston and 

they have on record that my blood pressure 

soared and was referred to my own doctor and 

was even asked to not continue my trip 

because of the their [sic] findings.  I told 

her that I would continue my trip and follow 

up with my doctor upon arrival in Newark.  I 

have never called in sick because of my work 

ethic and have always tried to take care of 

my medical issues and situations outside of 

Continental Airlines.  As you can see, I 

have always wanted to come to work and not 

let a sick call blemish my record.  I 

continue to take high blood pressure 
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medication.  The dosage and the strength 

[have] been continually elevated by my 

doctor.... 

 

11.  Continental denied any prior knowledge that Petitioner 

was taking blood pressure medications that could affect his job 

performance.  The only evidence produced by Petitioner to 

contradict Continental's denial was a document showing that he 

visited the Continental clinic at the Houston hub on August 3, 

2008, and that his blood pressure was 170/120.  There were no 

records indicating that Petitioner followed up with his employer 

as to his subsequent medical history.  The failure to inform 

Continental that he was taking medications that impaired his 

ability to work was itself a violation of Continental policy. 

12.  The Manual provides that, in the event of an emergency 

or illness, the flight attendant should notify the captain, who 

will call ahead to the arrival city and receive instructions 

from a supervisor.  The supervisor may allow the crew to place 

the ill flight attendant in a passenger seat.  Petitioner 

informed no one on the Flight that he was not feeling well 

before he removed himself to the rear of the plane. 

13.  On March 2, 2009, Continental received a written 

statement from Mr. Cummings, the flight attendant whom Ms. Downs 

stated was crocheting on the Flight and who was undergoing his 

own disciplinary investigation.  In his statement, Mr. Cummings 

admitted that he had been crocheting while seated in a passenger 
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seat.  Mr. Cummings also stated that during the Flight he had 

seen Petitioner lying across a row of passenger seats with a 

blanket over him. 

14.  Continental provided Mr. Cummings' written statement 

to Petitioner. 

15.  On March 4, 2009, Continental convened an 

investigatory meeting regarding Petitioner's actions on the 

Flight.  In attendance were Petitioner; Harrison Owen, 

Petitioner's IAM representative; Ms. Opinion; and Kevin 

Cumiskey, Continental's base manager of in-flight services for 

the Newark hub. 

16.  At the March 4 meeting, Petitioner admitted for the 

first time that he had been sitting in a passenger seat on the 

Flight, not in his jumpseat as he had earlier claimed.  

Petitioner claimed that he had laid his head down in the seat 

for 10 to 15 minutes because of the dizziness, but that he had 

always kept his feet on the floor.  He closed his eyes but did 

not go to sleep.  Petitioner continued to deny that he had 

covered himself with a blanket. 

17.  Petitioner was instructed to provide a second written 

statement to reflect his revised version of events.  Later on 

March 4, 2009, Petitioner submitted a handwritten statement 

consistent with his oral statements in the investigatory 

meeting.  In the statement, Petitioner expressed regret that he 
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was not truthful in his initial statements about whether he had 

occupied a passenger seat on the Flight. 

18.  At the March 4, 2009, meeting, Petitioner acknowledged 

that he was familiar with the Manual at the time of the Flight.  

Among the in-flight rules of conduct is the following: "If a 

flight attendant, while on duty, gives the appearance of 

sleeping or goes to sleep, he/she will be subject to immediate 

termination." 

19.  By letter dated March 7, 2009, Ms. Opinion, as 

Petitioner's supervisor, informed Petitioner that his employment 

was terminated because: (a) he had violated the Continental rule 

prohibiting a flight attendant from sleeping or giving the 

appearance of sleeping on a flight while on duty; (b) he had 

violated the Continental rule providing that any flight 

attendant who is taking any medication, prescribed or 

unprescribed, that may affect his ability to perform his job 

must notify his supervisor in writing; and (c) he had not been 

truthful during Continental's investigation of the allegations 

against him when he denied having occupied a passenger seat on 

the Flight and when, even after admitting his untruthfulness 

about the seat, he continued to deny that he had been lying down 

covered with a blanket, despite the credible statements of Ms. 

Downs and Mr. Cummings. 
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20.  In March 2009, Petitioner filed a first level 

grievance, in accordance with the contract between Continental 

and the IAM, to contest his discharge. 

21.  As part of his grievance, Petitioner claimed that 

Continental had treated Mr. Cummings, who is Caucasian, more 

favorably than it had treated Petitioner because Mr. Cummings 

had violated Continental's rules by sitting in a passenger seat 

and crocheting but had only received a termination warning
4/
 

rather than an outright termination. 

22.  On June 9, 2009, Continental denied Petitioner's first 

level grievance and upheld his termination.  Continental 

specifically rejected Petitioner's contention that Mr. Cummings 

and Petitioner were similarly situated and treated differently.  

Continental found that, unlike Petitioner, Mr. Cummings was 

"forthright and upfront during the investigation" and "did not 

take himself out of customer view and maintained view of the 

cabin at all times" during the Flight. 

23.  As noted above, the Manual provides for immediate 

termination of a flight attendant who sleeps or gives the 

appearance of sleeping while on duty.  The Manual does not call 

for immediate termination of a flight attendant who crochets or 

otherwise sits down on the job but remains in a position to view 

the cabin and respond to passenger needs. 
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24.  At the hearing, Petitioner conceded that Ms. Opinion 

was not Mr. Cummings' supervisor and played no role in 

Continental's decision to discipline Mr. Cummings short of 

termination. 

25.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence disputing the 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons given by Continental for 

his termination. 

26.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that 

Continental's stated reasons for his termination were a pretext 

for race discrimination or national origin discrimination. 

27.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that 

Continental discriminated against him because of his race or 

national origin in violation of section 760.10. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

29. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction of the subject matter of and the parties to this 

proceeding.  §§ 120.569 and 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (2010). 

30. The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (the "Florida 

Civil Rights Act" or the "Act"), chapter 760, prohibits 

discrimination in the workplace.  

31.  Subsection 760.10 states the following, in relevant 

part: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 
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(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 

 

32.  Continental is an "employer" as defined in subsection 

760.02(7), which provides the following: 

(7)  "Employer" means any person employing 

15 or more employees for each working day in 

each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the 

current or preceding calendar year, and any 

agent of such a person. 

 

33. Florida courts have determined that federal case law 

applies to claims arising under the Florida's Civil Rights Act, 

and as such, the United States Supreme Court's model for 

employment discrimination cases set forth in McDonnell Douglas 

Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 

(1973), applies to claims arising under section 760.10.  See 

Paraohao v. Bankers Club, Inc., 225 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1361 (S.D. 

Fla. 2002); Florida State University v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 

925 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Fla. Dep’t of Cmty. Aff. v. Bryant, 

586 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). 

34. Under the McDonnell analysis, in employment 

discrimination cases, Petitioner has the burden of establishing 

by a preponderance of evidence a prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination.  If the prima facie case is established, the 
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burden shifts to the employer to rebut this preliminary showing 

by producing evidence that the adverse action was taken for some 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason.  If the employer rebuts 

the prima facie case, the burden shifts back to Petitioner to 

show by a preponderance of evidence that the employer's offered 

reasons for its adverse employment decision were pretextual.  

See Texas Dep’t of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S. 

Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981). 

35.  In order to prove a prima facie case of unlawful 

employment discrimination under chapter 760, Petitioner must 

establish that:  (1) he is a member of the protected group; 

(2) he was subject to adverse employment action; (3) Continental 

treated similarly situated employees outside of his protected 

classifications more favorably; and (4) he was qualified to do 

the job and/or was performing his job at a level that met the 

employer’s legitimate expectations.  See, e.g., Jiles v. United 

Parcel Service, Inc., 360 Fed. Appx. 61, 64 (11th Cir. 2010); 

Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cnty., 447 F. 3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 

2006); Knight v. Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc., 330 F.3d 1313, 

1316 (11th Cir. 2003); Williams v. Vitro Serv. Corp., 144 F.3d 

1438, 1441 (11th Cir. 1998); McKenzie v. EAP Mgmt Corp., 40 F. 

Supp. 2d 1369, 1374-75 (S.D. Fla. 1999). 

36. Petitioner has failed to prove a prima facie case of 

unlawful employment discrimination. 
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37. Petitioner established that he is a member of a 

protected group, in that he is a black Hispanic man.  Petitioner 

was subject to an adverse employment action in that he was 

terminated from his position as flight attendant with 

Continental.  Petitioner was qualified to perform the job of 

flight attendant.  No evidence was presented that Petitioner's 

job performance had been unsatisfactory prior to the events of 

January 29, 2009.   

38.  As to the question of disparate treatment, the 

applicable standard was set forth in Maniccia v. Brown, 171 F.3d 

1364, 1368-1369 (11th Cir. 1999): 

"In determining whether employees are 

similarly situated for purposes of 

establishing a prima facie case, it is 

necessary to consider whether the employees 

are involved in or accused of the same 

or similar conduct and are disciplined in 

different ways."  Jones v. Bessemer Carraway 

Med. Ctr., 137 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th 

Cir.), opinion modified by 151 F.3d 1321 

(1998) (quoting Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 

1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997)).  "The most 

important factors in the disciplinary 

context are the nature of the offenses 

committed and the nature of the punishments 

imposed."  Id. (internal quotations and 

citations omitted).  We require that the 

quantity and quality of the comparator's 

misconduct be nearly identical to prevent 

courts from second-guessing employers' 

reasonable decisions and confusing apples 

with oranges. See Dartmouth Review 

v. Dartmouth College, 889 F.2d 13, 19 (1st 

Cir. 1989) ("Exact correlation is neither 

likely nor necessary, but the cases must be 
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fair congeners.  In other words, apples 

should be compared to apples.").   

(emphasis added).[
5/
] 

 

39.  The only evidence Petitioner offered of disparate 

treatment was Continental's treatment of Mr. Cummings, who 

received a termination warning rather than an outright 

discharge.  However, unlike Petitioner, Mr. Cummings was 

truthful from the outset of Continental's investigation of the 

events that occurred on the Flight.  Mr. Cummings' admitted 

violation of Continental policies was of a lesser degree than 

Petitioner’s, which called for immediate termination.  Far from 

"nearly identical," the quality of Mr. Cummings' misconduct was 

much less severe than that of Petitioner. 

40.  Further, Mr. Cummings is not similarly situated to 

Petitioner because Ms. Opinion, the supervisor who investigated 

and discharged Petitioner, was not the person who issued a 

termination warning to Mr. Cummings and played no role in his 

discipline.  Smalley v. Holder, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20140 at 

*32 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 22, 2011) ("Disciplinary measures undertaken 

by different decision-makers are not comparable for purposes of 

Title VII analysis."). 

41.  Having failed to establish this element, Petitioner 

has not established a prima facie case of employment 

discrimination.  
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42.  Even if Petitioner had met the burden, Continental 

presented evidence of legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for 

Petitioner's termination.  Petitioner violated known policies of 

his employer regarding rules conduct for on-duty flight 

attendants, and then was dishonest during the course of 

Continental's investigation of his actions during the Flight. 

43.  The question of Petitioner's race or national origin 

was never an issue until he made his allegations of 

discrimination after the fact. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

issue a final order finding that Continental Airlines, Inc., did 

not commit any unlawful employment practices and dismissing the 

Petition for Relief filed in this case. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 18th day of August, 2011, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   
LAWRENCE P. STEVENSON 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 18th day of August, 2011. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Citations shall be to Florida Statutes (2009) unless 

otherwise specified.  Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, has been 

unchanged since 1992. 
 
2/
  The Notice of Hearing dated April 26, 2011, contained the 

following language: 
 

Notwithstanding the requirements of Section 

120.57(1)(g), Florida Statutes, and Florida 

Administrative Code Rule 28-106.214, the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations has 

ceased providing a court reporter to 

preserve the testimony at a final hearing.  

Although the Judge will use a tape recorder 

at the hearing to assist the Judge in 

preparation of the recommended order 

following the hearing, that recording is not 

expected to suffice for preparation of the 

transcript required for filing exceptions to 

the recommended order or for any subsequent 

appeal.  If any party to this proceeding 

intends to provide a certified court 

reporter to record the final hearing at that 

party's own expense so that there can be an 

official transcript, that party shall advise 

all other parties and the Judge no later 

than 48 hours prior to the final hearing. 

 

Neither party provided a "certified court reporter to record the 

final hearing." 

 
3/
  No testimony was taken regarding this acronym, though the 

context leads to the presumption that it stands for "Flight 

object management system," an automated flight data information 

system.  

 
4
/  A "termination warning" is a Continental disciplinary step 

just short of dismissal from employment.  The employee 

acknowledges that he committed a violation of Continental policy 
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that warrants termination and accepts the discipline imposed by 

the company.  Mr. Cummings was essentially placed on probation 

for 18 months, forbidden from changing his hub base for six 

months, and notified that any future infractions could lead to 

termination. 

 
5/
  The Eleventh Circuit has questioned the "nearly identical" 

standard enunciated in Maniccia, but has recently reaffirmed its 

adherence to it.  Escarra v. Regions Bank, 353 Fed. Appx. 401, 

404 (11th Cir. 2009); Burke-Fowler, 447 F.3d at 1323 n.2. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

ESTELLA SMITH, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

SARASOTA HOUSING AUTHORITY, 

 

 Respondent. 

                                

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 11-1619 

   

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A video teleconference final hearing was conducted on 

July 25, 2011, between Sarasota and Tallahassee, Florida, before 

Administrative Law Judge Lynne A. Quimby-Pennock of the Division 

of Administrative Hearings (Division).  By prior Order, 

Petitioner participated in the hearing by telephonic conference 

call from Chickasaw County, Mississippi. 

APPEARANCES 

 

     For Petitioner:  Elizabeth M. Boyle, Esquire 

                      Gulfcoast Legal Services, Inc. 

                      Glasser Schoenbaum Human 

                        Services Center 

                      1750 17th Street, Unit I 

                      Sarasota, Florida  34234 

 

     For Respondent:  Ricardo L. Gilmore, Esquire 

                      Saxon, Gilmore, Carraway 

                        and Gibbons, P.A. 

                      201 East Kennedy Boulevard, Suite 600 

                      Tampa, Florida  33602 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

The issues are whether Respondent, Sarasota Housing 

Authority (the Housing Authority), discriminated against 

Petitioner, Estella Smith (Ms. Smith), based on her disability 

in violation of the Florida Fair Housing Act (the Florida FHA), 

and, if so, the relief to which Petitioner is entitled. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) and the 

Federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 

administer the Florida FHA, sections 760.20 through 760.37, 

Florida Statutes (2010).
1/
  On February 22, 2011, Ms. Smith was 

notified that the Housing Authority was terminating her HUD 

housing choice voucher assistance, a/k/a Section 8 housing 

choice voucher benefits (Section 8 program), for two reasons:  

an unauthorized person
2/
 living in the current rental unit and 

"family obligation failure to pay rent."  Ms. Smith immediately 

requested an administrative hearing regarding the termination of 

her assistance. 

On March 2, 2011, the Housing Authority conducted a hearing 

and determined that Ms. Smith's termination from the Section 8 

program was based on the two program violations:  an 

unauthorized person living in her current rental unit and her 

failure to pay rent in a timely fashion. 
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On March 22, 2011, Ms. Smith's executed Petition for Relief 

was filed with the FCHR.  The petition alleged that the Housing 

Authority violated the Florida FHA as amended and also violated 

"Sections 804b or f and 804fsB of Title VIII of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1968 as amended by the Fair Housing Act of 1988 and 

Section 504 of the 1973 Rehabilitation Act."  Specifically, the 

complaint alleged that Ms. Smith attempted to pay her rent 

obligation late, but the landlord refused it, and that she did 

not have an unauthorized person in her rental unit as the 

individual was her live-in aide. 

On March 29, 2011, the FCHR transferred the case to the 

Division.  A Notice of Hearing dated April 20, 2011, scheduled 

the hearing for June 27, 2011.  Following one continuance, the 

hearing was held on July 25, 2011. 

At the final hearing, Ms. Smith testified on her own 

behalf.  Petitioner's pre-numbered Exhibits 2 through 10, 12, 

13, 15, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24 and 26 were admitted into evidence.  

The Housing Authority called one witness:  Sharla Frantz, of the 

Housing Authority.  Respondent's Composite Exhibit A and 

Composite Exhibit B were admitted into evidence. 

There was no court reporter present at the hearing.  

Accordingly, there was no transcript filed.   
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The parties timely submitted their proposed recommended 

orders, which have been duly considered in the preparation of 

this Recommended Order. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Ms. Smith, a 52-year-old female, testified she 

participated in the Section 8 program for over ten years and 

never had any problems until she moved to Sarasota.  Ms. Smith 

moved into the Sarasota rental unit in October 2009. 

2.  The Housing Authority is a public housing authority 

that administers the Section 8 program, within Sarasota County, 

Florida, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. section 1437f. 

3.  Under the Section 8 program, the Housing Authority uses 

funds, supplied by HUD, to pay a percentage of the monthly rent 

on a leased "unit" directly to the landlord.  The Section 8 

program tenant pays the balance of the monthly rent to the 

landlord.  

4.  Ms. Smith executed a residential lease for a HUD-

approved unit on September 5, 2009, to begin a one-year rental.  

Ms. Smith agreed to abide by all the terms and conditions of the 

residential lease, including the timely payment of rent and the 

number of occupants (one adult and one child) in the rental unit 

without the written consent of the landlord.  On or about 

October 1, 2009, Ms. Smith moved from Tampa, Florida, to 
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Sarasota, Florida, and resided at the rental unit, 3047 East 

Tamiami Circle, Apartment A, Sarasota, Florida. 

5.  On September 8, 2009, Ms. Smith executed the Housing 

Authority's personal declaration/tenant information form.  Under 

part three of this form labeled:  "Family Members (including 

Head of Household) currently residing in unit," there were blank 

lines to be completed by Ms. Smith.  The following information 

was requested:  name; date of birth; social security number; 

disabled; Hispanic; race; and relationship.  Ms. Smith (or 

someone at her direction) completed the form including 

information about herself and her sole dependant.  Under the 

disabled heading on the line for Ms. Smith, the word "Pending" 

is written.  Additionally, in part five of this form labeled:  

"Expenses," was a question, "Are you or your spouse age 62 or 

older and/or disabled?"  Ms. Smith (or someone on her behalf) 

checked the box before "no" after this specific question. 

6.  Ms. Smith testified she suffered a stroke sometime in 

2009 and was physically affected by it.  However, she was unable 

to reference the specific time frame except for prior to her 

"porting" back to Sarasota.  Ms. Smith claimed to use both a 

walker and a wheelchair at various times since suffering the 

effects of the stroke.  Further, she later testified that, when 

she was in her rental unit, the doorways were narrow but she 

could maneuver in it. 
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7.  During her initial interview with the Housing Authority 

in September 2009, Ms. Smith stated she was using a walker that 

day and never told anyone at the Housing Authority that she was 

disabled. 

8.  Ms. Smith admitted she withheld the rent from the 

landlord.  However, she claimed her refusal to pay the rent was 

based on the lack of heat in the rental unit and the suspension 

of her laundry room privileges. 

9.  Ms. Smith further testified Bertha L. Pete (Ms. Pete) 

provided Ms. Smith with assistance in her daily living 

activities and started living in Ms. Smith's rental unit after 

Christmas or in late December 2009.  A copy of Ms. Pete's 

Florida driver's license, which reflects Ms. Smith's rental unit 

address as Ms. Pete's residence as of January 27, 2010, was 

admitted into evidence. 

10.  On February 10, 2010, Ms. Smith executed a request for 

a live-in aide with the Housing Authority.  Ms. Smith named 

Ms. Pete to be her proposed live-in aide.  The date stamp for 

the Housing Authority reflects that the request was received by 

the Housing Authority on February 17, 2010.  Any proposed live-

in aide has to meet the requirements imposed by the Housing 

Authority and HUD.  Ms. Pete did not meet the requirements. 

11.  Additionally, on February 17, 2010, Ms. Smith executed 

a verification of live-in aide form to be completed by her 
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physician and returned to the Housing Authority.  That completed 

form was never returned to the Housing Authority.  Both parties 

produced an executed medical doctor's prescription with 

Ms. Smith's name as the patient.  The hand-written notation on 

the prescription is "patient needs in home aid."  This verbiage 

is not sufficient nor equivalent to the requirements listed on 

the verification form for a "live-in aide." 

12.  The Housing Authority did not know that Ms. Smith 

needed a live-in aide when she completed her application in 

September 2009.  Although Ms. Smith utilized a walker at the 

time of her initial interview with the Housing Authority, the 

Housing Authority did not know she was disabled at that time.  

It is not the Housing Authority's practice to inquire of 

someone's physical status, as that could be perceived as a 

discriminatory question. 

13.  Sharla Frantz (Ms. Frantz), director of human 

resources for the Housing Authority, is the hearing officer for 

the Section 8 program.  Ms. Frantz testified as to the process 

utilized in the Housing Authority's Section 8 program. 

14.  Ms. Frantz testified that Ms. Smith made a request for 

assistance on January 27, 2010, regarding the lack of heat in 

her rental unit.  The Housing Authority caused an inspection to 

be made that same day, and a deficiency was noted.  The repair 

was completed, and the rental unit passed a follow-up inspection 
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on February 28, 2010.  However, at the time of her complaint, 

Ms. Smith did not discuss any other conditions or circumstances 

regarding the rental unit, nor was any request for a live-in 

aide made. 

15.  On or about February 11, 2010, the Housing Authority 

was made aware of a possible unauthorized person living at 

Ms. Smith's rental unit, as well as her failure to timely pay 

rent.  Several days later, the Housing Authority issued a letter 

to Ms. Smith detailing the reasons for her termination from the 

Section 8 program:  an unauthorized person living in the rental 

unit and her failure to pay rent. 

16.  Ms. Smith requested a hearing from the Housing 

Authority, which was held on March 2, 2010.  As a result of the 

hearing, the Housing Authority issued a letter detailing the 

basis for Ms. Smith's termination from the Section 8 program:  

an unauthorized person living in the rental unit and her failure 

to pay rent.  Ms. Smith was afforded time to prove that the 

rental amount was paid in full and that Ms. Pete did not live 

with her. 

17.  Ms. Frantz testified that at the Housing Authority 

hearing, Ms. Smith wrote a check for the past due rental amount.  

However, Ms. Frantz never received proof that the payment was 

actually made to the landlord.  Ms. Smith testified the landlord 

wanted the payment in cash; however, Ms. Smith did not feel 
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comfortable paying the rent in cash, as it did not provide her 

with a receipt.  The rent was never paid. 

18.  After waiting several days, the Housing Authority 

issued another letter to Ms. Smith stating that Ms. Smith was 

terminated from the Section 8 program for two program 

violations.  It further described that a lease agreement, 

brought in to the Housing Authority, did not substantiate her 

claim that an unauthorized person (Ms. Pete) was not living in 

Ms. Smith's rental unit. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

19.  The Division has jurisdiction over the parties to and 

the subject matter of this proceeding pursuant to sections 

120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes. 

20.  Ms. Smith has the burden of proving by a preponderance 

of the evidence that the Housing Authority violated the Florida 

FHA by discriminating against her as alleged in her complaint.  

§§ 120.57(1)(j) & 760.34(5), Fla. Stat. 

21.  The preponderance of the evidence standard requires 

proof by "the greater weight of the evidence," Black's Law 

Dictionary, 1201 (7th ed. 1999), or evidence that "more likely 

than not" tends to prove a certain proposition.  See Gross v. 

Lyons,763 So. 2d 276, 280 n.1 (Fla. 2000). 

22.  The Florida FHA is codified in sections 760.20 through 

760.37.  Subsection 760.23 reads in pertinent part: 
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Discrimination in the sale or rental of housing 

and other prohibited practices.-- 

 

*     *     * 

 

(2)  It is unlawful to discriminate against any 

person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of 

sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision 

of services or facilities in connection 

therewith, because of race, color, national 

origin, sex, handicap, familial status, or 

religion. 

 

23.  There is, in housing discrimination cases, a shifting 

of the burden of persuasion between a petitioner and a 

respondent.  In McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 

(1973), the Supreme Court established an analysis to be 

followed.  Under that analysis, a petitioner has the initial 

burden to prove a prima facie case of discrimination.  In order 

to establish a prima facie case, Ms. Smith must simply show that 

she is a member of a protected class (handicapped/disabled); 

that she is ready, willing, and able to reside in the rental 

unit; the Housing Authority is aware of her protected class; and 

the Housing Authority took an action against her because of her 

protected class.  The prima facie case has not been established.  

See, e.g., Wells v. Burger King Corporation, 40 F. Supp. 2d 1366 

(Fla. 1998). 

24.  As shown by the preponderance of the evidence, the 

Housing Authority took the action to terminate Ms. Smith's 

participation in the Section 8 program because she failed to pay 
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her rent in a timely manner, and she had an unauthorized person 

living in her rental unit without the Housing Authority's 

permission or knowledge. 

25.  There is no evidence in the record to support the 

allegation of discrimination based on Ms. Smith's disability.  

There is no evidence that the Housing Authority discriminated 

against any protected class.  There is no persuasive evidence 

that Ms. Smith was discriminated against by the Housing 

Authority.  Ms. Smith failed to prove her claim. 

26.  As to Ms. Smith's claim of retaliation, there was no 

evidence presented, persuasive or otherwise, that the Housing 

Authority took any action whatsoever that would support the 

claim.  None of the evidence presented could reasonably be 

inferred to substantiate such a claim. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that a final order be entered by the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations dismissing the Petition for Relief 

filed by Estella Smith in its entirety. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 17th day of August, 2011, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

LYNNE A. QUIMBY-PENNOCK 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 17th day of August, 2011. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  All references to Florida Statutes are to 2010, unless 

otherwise noted. 

 
2/
  Throughout the course of the hearing and within the exhibits 

the phrases "unauthorized person" or "illegal boarder" are used 

interchangeably.  For a consistent reference, the term 

"unauthorized person" shall be used. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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